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FROM: Lisa Haage, Chief of Enforcement 
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ORDER CCC-10-CD-02 & CONSENT RESTORATION ORDER CCC-10-RO-
02 (STEVEN & RONA GROMET) 

 FOR THE COMMISSION MEETING OF APRIL 14, 2010 
 
 
 
Documents included in this addendum: 
 

1. Letter in support of staff recommendation from Penny Elia (pg 2) 
2. Letter regarding proposed Consent Orders from Stevan Gromet (pg 3) 
 

Changes to staff report for CCC-10-CD-02 & CCC-10-RO-02: 
 
Commission staff recommends revisions to the staff report. Language to be added is 
shown in bold underline and language to be deleted is in strike out, as shown below.  
 

• Page 1. The hearing date is changed to read as follows: 
 
Hearing Date: April 14 15, 2010.  
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Items W 11 & 12
 

STAFF REPORT AND FINDINGS FOR CONSENT CEASE AND DESIST  
AND CONSENT RESTORATION ORDERS  

 

CEASE AND DESIST ORDER: CCC-10-CD-02 

RESTORATION ORDER: CCC-10-RO-02 

RELATED VIOLATION FILE: V-05-07-009 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Mostly undeveloped land, located at the northern 
terminus of Driftwood Drive, Laguna Beach, 
identified by the Orange County Assessor’s Office 
as two properties, with Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 
056-240-65 and 656-191-40  

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY: Approximately 3,500 square feet of hillside near the 
eastern property line of 30662 Marilyn Dr., Laguna 
Beach, Orange County 

PROPERTY OWNER: Driftwood Properties, LLC  

VIOLATION DESCRIPTION: Unpermitted removal of major vegetation 
(including, but not limited to southern maritime 
chaparral plant species), resulting in significant 
impacts to sensitive species, including the threatened 
big-leaved crownbeard 

PERSONS SUBJECT TO THESE 
ORDERS: 

Stevan and Rona Gromet 

SUBSTANTIVE FILE 
DOCUMENTS: 

1. Cease and Desist and Restoration Order Nos. 
CCC-10-CD-02 & CCC-10-RO-02 

2. Exhibits A through I and Appendix A of this 
staff report 

CEQA STATUS: Exempt (CEQA Guidelines (CG) §§ 15060(c)(2) 
and (3)) and Categorically Exempt (CG §§ 
15061(b)(2), 15307, 15308 and 15321) 



CCC-10-CD-02 & CCC-10-RO-02  
Page 2 of 17 
 

                                                

I. SUMMARY OF STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 
Staff notes that a consent agreement was reached only hours before the late mailing deadline for 
the Commission’s April Hearing. As such, this staff report has been modified only nominally to 
reflect the late consent agreement. A copy of the proposed Consent Orders is included as 
Appendix A of this staff report.  
 
Staff recommends that the Commission approve Consent Cease and Desist Order No. CCC-10-
CD-02 and Consent Restoration Order CCC-10-RO-02 (“Orders”), addressing the unpermitted 
removal of major vegetation (including, but not limited to southern maritime chaparral plant 
species) across an approximately 3,500 square foot area, resulting in significant impacts to 
sensitive species, including to an approximately 700 square foot area of big-leaved crownbeard 
(Verbesina dissita), which is listed as a “threatened” species by the United States Fish and 
Wildlife Service pursuant to the Federal Endangered Species Act (50 CFR § 17.12(2)(h)) and by 
the California Department of Fish and Game pursuant to the California Endangered Species Act 
(14 CCR § 670.2(b)(2)(D)).  
 
The area that is the subject of these proceedings has been mapped as southern maritime 
chaparral.1 As is discussed more fully in pages 9-11 of this staff report, the Commission’s 
ecologist Dr. Dixon, after visiting the site and reviewing the associated literature, drafted a 
memo in which he explains why the southern maritime chaparral plant communities on the site 
meet the definition of environmentally sensitive habitat areas (“ESHA”).2 The plant communities 
surrounding the impacted area provide habitat for several rare and threatened species, including 
but not limited to the big-leaved crownbeard, summer holly, western dichondra, the California 
gnatcatcher, and the rufous-crowned sparrow, each of which has been observed at the site. Staff 
notes that the Commission has consistently treated southern maritime chaparral as ESHA.  
 
The unpermitted development activities occurred on a steeply sloping hillside identified by the 
Orange County Assessor’s Office as Assessor’s Parcel Numbers (APNs) 056-240-65 and 656-
191-40, in the City of Laguna Beach, Orange County (“subject property”). The site is largely 
undeveloped, with the exception of the unpermitted development that is the subject of these 
proceedings. Staff notes that other unpermitted development in violation of the Coastal Act 
exists on the subject property. However, those violations are being addressed under separate 
enforcement actions and therefore are not subject to these proceedings.3   
 
The subject property is owned by Driftwood Properties, LLC and managed by Athens 
Development AC, LLC. The subject property is located in the Hobo/Aliso area of Laguna Beach.  
The Commission has jurisdiction over permit and enforcement matters in this area because it is 

 
1 LSA Associates, Inc. 2000. Biological Resources Assessment-Driftwood Estates-Laguna Beach Project. Prepared 
for Highpointe Communities, Inc. 
2 Dixon, John. (CCC). April 16, 2007.  Memo to Ryan Todoro (CCC) re: Habitat Characteristics on the Athens 
Group LLC property at Hobo Aliso Ridge (formerly known as Driftwood Estates). 
3 The unpermitted development previously detected on the subject property, and which is not subject to these 
proceedings, is being addressed under separate enforcement actions, identified by the following violation file 
numbers: V-5-05-031, V-5-06-029, and V-5-07-006.  
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an area of deferred certification and, therefore, is not subject to local regulation under the 
certified Laguna Beach Local Coastal Program.   
 
The unpermitted development that is the subject of these proceedings was undertaken by Stevan 
and Rona Gromet (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Respondents”), owners of an adjacent 
property, located at 30662 Marilyn Drive, Laguna Beach, Orange County. Respondents have 
admitted to Commission staff and have not disputed the fact that they undertook the clearing. 
Consequently, Respondents are the parties subject to these Consent Order proceedings. Through 
these Consent Orders, Respondents have agreed to, among other things: (1) restore the 
crownbeard impacted by the unpermitted removal activities; (2) restore and revegetate southern 
maritime chaparral that was impacted during the vegetation clearance; (3) remove all non-native 
plant species from the impacted area of the subject property; and (4) actively monitor the 
progress of the restoration effort; (5) submit annual monitoring reports, for at least five years 
after initial restoration work is completed; (6) conduct further remediation where necessary; and 
(7) contribute $20,000 to a not-for-profit organization, subject to the approval of the Executive 
Director, for the purpose(s) of advancing native plants restoration and/or education activities 
within the Coastal Zone of Southern California. 
 
The owners of the subject property, Driftwood Properties, LLC, have agreed to allow 
Respondents access to perform the restoration work required by these Orders, within the 
impacted area of the subject property. The authorization extends to Commission staff for 
purposes of evaluating compliance with the terms of the Orders.  
 
The Commission can issue a Cease and Desist Order under Section 30810 of the Coastal Act in 
cases where it finds that the activity that is the subject of the order has occurred either without a 
required Coastal Development Permit (CDP) or in violation of a previously granted CDP.  The 
Commission can issue a Restoration Order under section 30811 of the Coastal Act if it finds that 
development: 1) has occurred without a coastal development permit; 2) is inconsistent with the 
Coastal Act; and 3) is causing continuing resource damage.  These criteria have all been met in 
this case, as summarized briefly here, and discussed in more detail on pages 8-14, below.   
 
The unpermitted activity that has occurred on the subject property clearly meets the definition of 
“development” set forth in Section 30106 of the Coastal Act. Development is defined broadly 
under the Coastal Act, and includes, among many other actions, the “…removal or harvesting of 
major vegetation other than for agricultural purposes…” All non-exempt development in the 
Coastal Zone requires a CDP.  No exemption from the permit requirement applies here. The 
development was undertaken without a CDP, in violation of Coastal Act Section 30600. 
Furthermore, the unpermitted development is: 1) inconsistent with the policies in Chapter 3 of 
the Coastal Act, including Section 30240 (ESHA), Section 30251 (scenic areas) and Section 
30253 (erosion), which require protection of coastal resources within the Coastal Zone; and 2) 
causing continuing resource damage, as discussed more fully below.  
 
The unpermitted removal of vegetation has adversely impacted the resources associated with the 
dynamic habitats of this area of Laguna Beach.  Such impacts meet the definition of damage 
provided in Section 13190(b) of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations (14 CCR), which 
defines “damage” as, “any degradation or other reduction in quality, abundance, or other 
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quantitative or qualitative characteristic of the resource as compared to the condition the resource 
was in before it was disturbed by unpermitted development.”  In addition to the removal of the 
vegetation that was on the property at the time of the unpermitted removal actions, the removal 
has impacted the overall abundance and health of the chaparral habitat here, including the 
crownbeard, by causing temporal losses and a decrease in the overall plant communities 
comprising the ESHA. Following the clearing of what was previously a relatively stable plant 
community, non-native and invasive species have rapidly colonized the impacted area. Non-
native and invasive species threaten the success of any natives that have, or may have attempted 
to, become reestablished within the impacted area, thereby delaying the site’s overall recovery. 
In addition to the individual impacts discussed, the cumulative effect of these pressures amounts 
to a loss of several years during which the ESHA would have otherwise increased in area and 
ecosystem function.  If the unpermitted development is allowed to persist without restoration and 
mitigation, additional impacts are expected to result (including the temporal continuation of the 
existing impacts) to the resources protected under Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act.   
 
The unpermitted development and the impacts therefrom remain on the subject property.  The 
continued presence of the unpermitted development and/or the maintenance of cleared areas on 
the subject property, as described below, will exacerbate adverse impacts to resources protected 
by the Coastal Act.  Thus, without remediation, the violation is causing continuing resource 
damage, as defined in 14 CCR Section 13190.  Therefore, the Commission has the authority to 
issue a Cease and Desist and a Restoration Order in this matter.  
 
 
II.  HEARING PROCEDURES 
 
The procedures for a hearing on a Cease and Desist Order and Restoration Order are outlined in 
Title 14, Division 5.5, Section 13185 of the California Code of Regulations.    
 
For a Cease and Desist Order and Restoration Order hearing, the Chair shall announce the matter 
and request that all parties or their representatives present at the hearing identify themselves for 
the record, indicate what matters are already part of the record, and announce the rules of the 
proceeding including time limits for presentations.  The Chair shall also announce the right of 
any speaker to propose to the Commission, before the close of the hearing, any question(s) for 
any Commissioner, at his or her discretion, to ask of any other party.  Staff shall then present the 
report and recommendation to the Commission, after which the alleged violator(s) or their 
representative(s) may present their position(s) with particular attention to those areas where an 
actual controversy exists.  The Chair may then recognize other interested persons after which 
time staff typically responds to the testimony and to any new evidence introduced. 
 
The Commission should receive, consider, and evaluate evidence in accordance with the same 
standards it uses in its other quasi-judicial proceedings, as specified in Title 14, California Code 
of Regulations Section 13186, incorporating by reference Section 13065.  The Chair will close 
the public hearing after the presentations are completed.  The Commissioners may ask questions 
to any speaker at any time during the hearing or deliberations, including, if any Commissioner 
chooses, any questions proposed by any speaker in the manner noted above.  Finally, the 
Commission shall determine, by a majority vote of those present and voting, whether to issue the 



CCC-10-CD-02 & CCC-10-RO-02  
Page 5 of 17 
 
Cease and Desist Order and Restoration Orders, either in the form recommended by the 
Executive Director, or as amended by the Commission.  Passage of the motions below, per staff 
recommendation or as amended by the Commission, will result in issuance of the Cease and 
Desist Order and Restoration Orders. 
 
 
III. STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
Staff recommends that the Commission adopt the following two motions: 
 
1.  Motion:  
 

I move that the Commission issue Consent Cease and Desist Order No. CCC-10-CD-02 
pursuant to the staff recommendation.  

 
Staff Recommendation of Approval: 
 
Staff recommends a YES vote.  Passage of this motion will result in issuance of the Consent 
Cease and Desist Order. The motion passes only by an affirmative vote of a majority of 
Commissioners present.  
 
Resolution to Issue Consent Cease and Desist Order: 
 
The Commission hereby issues Consent Cease and Desist Order No. CCC-10-CD-02, as set forth 
below, and adopts the findings set forth below on grounds that development requiring a coastal 
development permit from the Commission has occurred without such a permit having been 
issued. 
 
2.  Motion:  

 
I move that the Commission issue Consent Restoration Order No. CCC-10-RO-02 
pursuant to the staff recommendation.    

 
Staff Recommendation of Approval: 
 
Staff recommends a YES vote.  Passage of this motion will result in issuance of the Consent 
Restoration Order.  The motion passes only by an affirmative vote of a majority of 
Commissioners present. 
  
Resolution to Issue Restoration Order: 
 
The Commission hereby issues Consent Restoration Order No. CCC-10-RO-02, as set forth 
below, and adopts the findings set forth below on the grounds that: 1) Respondents have 
conducted development without a coastal development permit; 2) the development is 
inconsistent with the Coastal Act; and 3) the development is causing continuing resource 
damage. 
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IV. FINDINGS FOR CONSENT CEASE AND DESIST ORDER NO. CCC-10-CD-02 
AND RESTORATION ORDER CCC-10-RO-02 
    

A. Description of Property  
 

The subject property is located north of Aliso Canyon and south of Hobo Canyon, in Laguna 
Beach, Orange County. Generally situated at the northern terminus of Driftwood Drive, the 
subject property is bounded by residential development to the west, and commercial and 
recreational development to the south. Open space and parklands bound the property to the east 
and north.  The landscape of the surrounding undeveloped land is characterized by steeply 
sloping vegetated hillsides covered by southern maritime chaparral, coastal sage scrub, and 
mixed chaparral plant communities. These plant communities provide habitat for several rare and 
threatened species, including the big-leaved crownbeard, summer holly, western dichondra, the 
California gnatcatcher, and the rufous-crowned sparrow, among others.  The unpermitted 
development that is the subject of these proceedings occurred on and continues to affect an 
approximately 3,500 square foot area of hillside, located approximately 200 feet northwest of the 
terminus of Driftwood Drive, on the subject property. A map showing the location of the subject 
property is included as Exhibit A.  
 

B. Description of Coastal Act Violation 
 

The violation consists of the unpermitted removal of major vegetation (including, but not limited 
to southern maritime chaparral plant species) across an approximately 3,500 square foot area, 
resulting in significant impacts to sensitive species, including to an approximately 700 square 
foot area of big-leaved crownbeard (Verbesina dissita), which is State and federally listed as a 
“threatened” species. The location and extent of the unpermitted development are generally 
depicted in Exhibit B. A photograph of the big-leaved crownbeard is included as Exhibit C. 

 
C. History of Coastal Act Violation at Issue on the Subject Property  

 
On January 22, 2007, staff received a report that an approximately 6,000 square foot area of 
hillside on the subject property had been cleared of vegetation. After further investigations, staff 
later determined that the area cleared by Respondents is approximately 4,000 square feet. The 
original report received by staff indicated that the impacted area may have contained sensitive 
species, including crownbeard. Photo documentation, showing the impacted area of the subject 
property, was included with the original violation report (Exhibit D). Staff investigated the report 
and confirmed that major vegetation, consisting of southern maritime chaparral, including the 
threatened big-leaved crownbeard, was removed from an approximately 3,500 square foot 
portion of the hillside. Staff also determined that the remaining 500 square foot area, towards the 
base of the subject hillside, was comprised of mature ornamental vegetation.  Staff’s 
investigation also confirmed that Respondents were responsible.  
 
On April 27, 2007, Commission staff mailed to Respondents a letter notifying them that: the 
clearing of the adjacent property owner’s hillside (1) constituted “development” as that term is 
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defined under Section 30106 of the Coastal Act; (2) required a coastal development permit; (3) 
was conducted in the absence of any permit; (4) constituted a violation of the Coastal Act; and 
(5) impacted an extremely rare State and federally listed as threatened species (crownbeard). 
Staff conveyed its interest in working with Respondents to resolve the violation amicably, but 
also noted that the Coastal Act provides specific provisions for resolving violations thereof 
(Exhibit E).  
 
Respondent Stevan Gromet submitted a response, dated May 11, 2007, in which he stated that he 
was committed to working towards an amicable resolution to the violation. Staff met with 
Respondents on multiple occasions, including on October 26, 2007; November 8, 2007 and July 
2, 2008, to inspect the site, photograph the impacted area, and to discuss potential avenues for 
resolution. Respondents and staff agreed that a biological survey of the impacted area would help 
facilitate a discussion regarding appropriate measures for resolution. Respondents retained Scott 
White Biological Consultants to survey the extent of the impacted area and propose restoration 
measures. Scott White’s survey was conducted in April 2008. The results of that survey were 
submitted to Commission staff in the form of a letter from Scott White Consulting to 
Respondents (Scott White Report), dated September 8, 2008, and entitled “30662 Marilyn Dr., 
big-leaved crownbeard site visit and remediation strategies” (Exhibit F). Staff reviewed the Scott 
White Report and determined that additional restoration measures, beyond those recommended 
by the consultant, would be necessary to resolve the violation.  
 
Staff has worked closely with Respondents over the ensuing months to reach an effective, 
amicable resolution to the violation. On February 11, 2010, Commission staff mailed to 
respondents draft Consent Orders. On February 18, 2010, staff also mailed to Respondents a 
letter notifying them of the Executive Director’s intent to commence formal cease and desist and 
restoration order proceedings (NOI). The letter was accompanied by a Statement of Defense 
Form, in conformance with the provisions of 14 CCR Section 13181 (Exhibit G). Respondents 
informed staff that they would be retaining Fred Roberts, a renowned crownbeard expert, to 
review the terms of the proposed Restoration Orders, survey the subject hillside, and prepare a 
restoration plan for the site. On March 21, 2010, Mr. Roberts submitted to staff a letter and 
proposed restoration plan for the impacted area of the subject property (Exhibit H). Over the 
weeks that followed, staff spoke several times with Respondents and Mr. Roberts and ultimately 
reached consensus on the measures necessary to restore the subject property. On March 31, 
2010, Respondents signed proposed Consent Cease and Desist Order No. CCC-10-CD-02 and 
Consent Restoration Order No. CCC-10-RO-02.  
 

D. Basis for Issuance of Orders  
 
Cease and Desist Order 
 
The statutory authority for issuance of this Cease and Desist Order is provided in section 30810 
of the Coastal Act, which states, in relevant part: 
 

If the commission, after public hearing, determines that any person…has undertaken, or is 
threatening to undertake, any activity that… requires a permit from the commission without 
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first securing the permit… the commission may issue an order directing that person…to 
cease and desist. 

 
The cease and desist order may be subject to such terms and conditions as the commission 
may determine are necessary to ensure compliance with this division, including immediate 
removal of any development or material… 

 
Restoration Order 
 
The statutory authority for issuance of this Restoration Order is provided in §30811 of the 
Coastal Act, which states, in relevant part: 
 

In addition to any other authority to order restoration, the commission… may, after a public 
hearing, order restoration of a site if it finds that [a] the development has occurred without 
a coastal development permit from the commission… [b] the development is inconsistent 
with this division, and [c] the development is causing continuing resource damage. 

 
The following paragraphs set forth the basis for the issuance of the proposed Cease and Desist 
and Restoration Orders by providing substantial evidence that the development meets all of the 
required grounds listed in Section 30810 and 30811 for the Commission to issue a Cease and 
Desist Order and Restoration Order.  
 
1.  Development has occurred without a Coastal Development Permit  
 
Development, consisting of the unpermitted removal of major vegetation (including, but not 
limited to, southern maritime chaparral plant species) across an approximately 3,500 square foot 
area of ESHA, resulting in significant impacts to sensitive species, including impacts to an 
approximately 700 square-foot area of big-leaved crownbeard, has occurred on the subject 
property. The activity that is the subject of these Orders meets the definition of “development” as 
set forth in Section 30106 of the Coastal Act, and therefore required a coastal development 
permit. Respondents have admitted to Commission staff and have not disputed the fact that they 
undertook the clearing. However, Respondents did not obtain a CDP prior to conducting the 
unpermitted development. 
 
Section 30600(a) of the Coastal Act states that, in addition to obtaining any other permit required 
by law, any person wishing to perform or undertake any development in the coastal zone must 
obtain a coastal development permit.  “Development” is defined by Section 30106 of the Coastal 
Act as follows: 
 

"Development" means, on land, in or under water, the placement or erection of any solid 
material or structure; discharge or disposal of any dredged material or of any gaseous, 
liquid, solid, or thermal waste; grading, removing, dredging, mining, or extraction of any 
materials; change in the density or intensity of use of land…change in the intensity of use of 
water, or of access thereto…and the removal or harvesting of major vegetation other than 
for agricultural purposes… (emphasis added) 
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As previously discussed, the activities at issue in this matter consisted of removal of major 
vegetation in ESHA, including southern maritime chaparral species and the extremely rare and 
threatened big-leaved crownbeard.4 Southern maritime chaparral, which includes the big-leaved 
crownbeard, is a unique plant community that provides habitat for rare and threatened species 
that occur only in a select few coastal areas of Southern California and Baja California, Mexico. 
For that reason, it meets the definition of “major vegetation” as the Commission has consistently 
interpreted the use of that term in Section 30106 of the Coastal Act. Respondents’ actions clearly 
constitute “development” within the meaning of the above-quoted definition and therefore are 
subject to the Coastal Act permitting requirements set forth in Coastal Act Section 30600(a).   
 
Commission staff has verified that the cited development on the property was conducted by 
Respondents without a CDP.  Thus, the standard for the Commission’s issuance of the Cease and 
Desist Order pursuant to Coastal Act Section 30810 and the first element of the standard for the 
Commission’s issuance of the Restoration Order pursuant to Coastal Act Section 30811 have 
both been satisfied.   
 
2. Unpermitted Development is Inconsistent with the Coastal Act 
 
As described below, the unpermitted development described herein is not consistent with 
multiple resource protection policies of the Coastal Act, including: Section 30240 (protection of 
ESHA); Section 30251 (protection of scenic and visual resources); and Section 30253 
(minimization of adverse impacts).  
 
A. Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas 
 
The unpermitted development is inconsistent with Coastal Act Section 30240, which requires 
protection of all environmentally sensitive habitat areas within the Coastal Zone and subject to 
regulation under the Coastal Act.  Environmentally sensitive habitat areas are defined in Coastal 
Act Section 30107.5, as follows: 
  

"Environmentally sensitive area” means any area in which plant or animal life or their 
habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in 
an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and 
developments. 

 
Southern maritime chaparral, including the big-leaved crownbeard, is a sensitive plant 
community that is very limited in distribution among the coastal and inland hills of Southern 
California. It is a low, fairly open plant community, highly dependent on maritime climate. In the 
Laguna Beach area, southern maritime chaparral is generally characterized by the presence of big 
podded and/or warty-stemmed ceanothis, bush rue, bladder pod, and spiny or little-leaved 
redberry, among other species.5  
 
                                                 
4 Dixon, John. (CCC). April 16, 2007.  Memo to Ryan Todoro (CCC) re: Habitat Characteristics on the Athens 
Group LLC property at Hobo Aliso Ridge (formerly known as Driftwood Estates). 
5 Marsh, K.  January 20, 1992.  South Laguna Biological Resources Inventory.  A report prepared for the City of 
Laguna Beach. 
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Crownbeard, a State and federally listed as threatened species, is a semi-woody perennial shrub 
that is a member of the sunflower family (Asteraceae).6  It can grow to just over three feet tall 
and is most often found growing on coastal hillsides and in canyons under the canopy of dense 
southern maritime chaparral and, to a lesser extent, coastal sage scrub and mixed chaparral.  This 
species is extremely rare, found only in two places worldwide: along a two-mile stretch of the 
southern Laguna Beach coast, and along the northwestern coast of Baja California, Mexico. The 
Laguna Beach population is estimated to contain only a few thousand plants.7  Approximately 
20% of those plants are located within Aliso & Wood Canyons Regional Park and are managed 
and protected by Orange County. The remaining 80% of the plants are located on private lands 
and are threatened by residential development and fuel modification.8  
 
In 2007, the Commission’s Senior Ecologist Dr. John Dixon drafted a memo summarizing his 
findings after visiting the subject property and reviewing the associated ecological and biological 
literature (Exhibit I). In that memo, Dr. Dixon described the areas adjacent to the graded pads on 
the subject property as consisting of southern maritime chaparral, coastal sage scrub, and habitats 
intermediate in character between the two. While their quality was observed to be varied across 
the subject property, Dr. Dixon noted that these sensitive plant communities provide essential 
habitat for rare and threatened species, such as the State and federally listed as threatened big-
leaved crownbeard, the federally listed as threatened California gnatcatcher, and the rufous-
crowned sparrow, a California Species of Special Concern. After considering the vegetative 
communities present; their ecosystem function; the rare and threatened species they support; as 
well as the landscape position, topography, physical environment, and climatic regime of the 
site; Dr. Dixon concluded that the southern maritime chaparral and coastal sage scrub 
communities on the subject property meet the definition of  ESHA, as defined by the Coastal 
Act.9  
 
The subject hillside upon which the unpermitted development occurred was also mapped as 
southern maritime chaparral in 2000 as part of a biological resources assessment for the proposed 
Driftwood Estates subdivision project.10 As previously discussed, southern maritime chaparral 
species, including big-leaved crownbeard, have also been observed by Commission staff on the 
subject property. These plant communities are considered by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
and the California Department of Fish and Game as “sensitive” and “special status.”11  
 

 
6 For State listing, see 14 C.C.R. § 670.1 (2006).  For federal listing, see 50 C.F.R. § 17.12(2)(h) (2005).  
7 Federal Register. 1993. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Proposed Rule for Six Southern Maritime 
Chaparral Plant Taxa From Coastal Southern California and Northwestern Baja California, Mexico. Vol. 58, No. 
189.   
8 Id. 
9 Dixon, John (CCC). April 16, 2007. Letter to Ryan Todoro (CCC) concerning habitat characteristics on the 
Driftwood Properties, LLC land at Hobo Aliso Ridge (formerly known as Driftwood Estates).  
10 LSA Associates, Inc. 2000. Biological Resources Assessment – Driftwood Estates – Laguna Beach Project. 
Prepared for Highpointe Communities, Inc.   
11 Evans, K.E. (USFWS).  December 21, 2001. Letter to A. Larson (City of Laguna Beach) re: “Draft Environmental 
Impact Report for the Laguna Beach Driftwood Estates (Tentative Tract Number 16035), City of Laguna Beach, 
County of Orange, California.” 
Tippets, William (CDFG). December 20, 2001. Letter to Ann Larson (City of Laguna Beach) re: “Environmental 
Impact Report for the Driftwood Estates Project, (Tentative Tract Number 16035), Laguna Beach. California. “ 
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These plant communities in general and the crownbeard in particular have been subject to great 
pressures and losses.  The US Fish and Wildlife Service reports that urbanization and agricultural 
conversion have caused the destruction of an estimated 82 to 93 percent of southern maritime 
chaparral communities in California.12 Small-scale residential development and fuel modification 
in particular have significantly impacted the Laguna Beach population of big-leaved 
crownbeard.13 Individual plants are susceptible to removal during these development activities 
and large areas of chaparral habitat have been disturbed and destroyed as a result. Cumulative 
impacts from continued plant removal and habitat fragmentation threaten the survival of the 
species that depend upon these plant communities. As evidenced by its precipitous decline, 
southern maritime chaparral, including big-leaved crownbeard, is rare and easily degraded by 
human activities. Consequently, at the subject site, southern maritime chaparral, including the 
big-leaved crownbeard, as determined by Dr. Dixon in 2007, meets the definition of 
Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Area (ESHA) under the Coastal Act. 
 
Coastal Act Section 30240 states the following:  

 
(a)  Environmentally sensitive habitat areas shall be protected against any significant 
disruption of habitat values, and only uses dependent on such resources shall be allowed 
within such areas. 
 
(b)  Development in areas adjacent to environmentally sensitive habitat areas and parks 
and recreation areas shall be sited and designed to prevent impacts which would 
significantly degrade such areas, and shall be compatible with the continuance of such 
habitat areas. 

 
The unpermitted development consists of the unpermitted clearing of vegetation across an 
approximately 3,500 square foot area of hillside on the subject property, resulting in impacts to 
sensitive southern maritime chaparral species, including the big-leaved crownbeard. The 
unpermitted activities do not constitute a resource dependent use and caused significant 
disruption to a unique and fragile habitat upon which numerous rare and threatened species rely, 
in violation of Section 30240(a). Moreover, the remaining disturbance on the site has degraded 
the habitat and provided for the introduction of non-native and invasive species throughout the 
impacted area, which may affect adjacent coastal sage scrub14 and southern maritime chaparral 
communities in a way that is not compatible with the continuance of these habitat communities, 
in violation of Section 30240(b). Therefore, the unpermitted development is inconsistent with 
Section 30240 of the Coastal Act.  
 

 
12 Federal Register. 1993. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Proposed Rule for Six Southern 
Maritime Chaparral Plant Taxa From Coastal Southern California and Northwestern Baja California, Mexico. Vol. 
58, No. 189.   
13 California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG). 2005. The Status of Rare, Threatened, and Endangered Plants 
and Animals of California 2000-2004. Accessed via Internet on February 16, 2010 at: 
http://www.dfg.ca.gov/wildlife/nongame/t_e_spp/new_te_rpt.html  
 
14 In his memo, dated April 16, 2010, Dr. Dixon also identified the coastal sage scrub plant communities 
existing on the subject property as meeting the definition of ESHA.    
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B)  Scenic Public Views and Visual Qualities of Coastal Areas 

 
The unpermitted development is inconsistent with Coastal Act Section 30251, which requires 
that the scenic and visual qualities of the coast be protected and any permitted development be 
visually compatible with the surrounding area. Section 30251 of the Coastal Act states: 
 

The scenic and visual qualities of coastal areas shall be considered and protected as a 
resource of public importance.  Permitted development shall be sited and designed to 
protect views to and along the ocean and scenic coastal areas, to minimize the alteration 
of natural land forms, to be visually compatible with the character of surrounding areas, 
and, where feasible, to restore and enhance visual quality in visually degraded areas….  

 
The resources that must be protected in this area include views to and across the few remaining 
unbroken tracts of coastal sage scrub and southern maritime chaparral plant communities that 
make Southern California’s coastal hillsides and canyons so visually appealing. The unpermitted 
development at issue was neither sited nor designed to protect views of the scenic coastal 
hillsides and canyons of Laguna Beach. Instead, the unpermitted actions degraded a fundamental 
and defining component of their aesthetic character – the native vegetation. Rather than seeking 
to ensure the unpermitted activities were visually compatible with the surrounding area, which 
consists largely of native chaparral and coastal scrub plants, Respondents cleared most of the 
impacted area to bare earth. The resulting barren patch of earth contrasts sharply with the 
aesthetic character of the adjacent vegetated hillsides and canyons. The unpermitted development 
failed to protect, enhance, or ensure compatibility with the visual quality of the area. Therefore, 
the unpermitted development is inconsistent with Section 30251 of the Coastal Act.  
 
C. Minimization of Adverse Impacts 
 
The unpermitted development is inconsistent with Section 30253(b) of the Coastal Act, which 
requires new development to minimize erosion and associated impacts to the site. Section 
30253(b) states: 
 

New development shall… (b) Assure stability and structural integrity, and neither create 
nor contribute significantly to erosion, geologic instability, or destruction of the site or 
surrounding area or in any way require the construction of protective devices that would 
substantially alter natural landforms along bluffs and cliffs.  

 
 
The unpermitted development exists on a steeply sloping hillside of the subject property. The 
subject hillside consists of a fill-over-cut slope, comprised mainly of non-uniformly compacted 
fill material, including sandy and silty soils, and decaying vegetation, all of which appears to 
have been generated from prior grading activities on or near the subject property. A Draft 
Environmental Impact Report (EIR) that was prepared for a proposed subdivision on the subject 
property notes that the native soils are susceptible to erosion. The EIR recommends mitigation in 
the form of an erosion control plan and best management practices for significant water quality 
impacts expected from vegetation clearance associated with the proposed project. In addition, to 
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ensure soil stability and erosion prevention on the subject hillside, the EIR recommends the 
planting of deep rooted ground cover. 15

 
Chaparral plants typically help stabilize the soil and prevent erosion. Removal of these plants, 
especially on Southern California hillsides, increases the risk of erosion and slope failure. 
Southern California mudslides, which tend to occur on wildfire denuded hillsides, are a frequent 
reminder of the important role native vegetation plays in stabilizing slopes. Respondents’ 
unpermitted clearing of all but a few shrubs within the impacted area of the subject hillside failed 
to assure the stability and structural integrity of that hillside. Moreover, by clearing much of the 
impacted area to bare earth, thereby exposing the underlying soils to erosive forces such as wind 
and rain, Respondents contributed significantly to the erosive potential of the hillside. For these 
reasons, the unpermitted activities are inconsistent with Section 30253(b) of the Coastal Act.  
 
As noted above, Respondents’ unpermitted actions are clearly inconsistent with numerous 
resource protection policies of the Coastal Act. As such, the second standard has been met for the 
Commission’s issuance of a Restoration Order pursuant to Coastal Act Section 30811.   
 
 
3. Unpermitted Development is Causing Continuing Resource Damage 
 
The unpermitted development is causing continuing resource damage, as defined in Title 14, 
California Code of Regulations, Section 13190, which states:  
 

‘Continuing’, when used to describe ‘resource damage’, means such damage which 
continues to occur as of the date of issuance of the Restoration Order.   
 
‘Resource’ means any resource which is afforded protection under the policies of 
Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act, including but not limited to public access, marine and other 
aquatic resources, environmentally sensitive wildlife habitat, and the visual quality of 
coastal areas. 
 
‘Damage’ means any degradation or other reduction in quality, abundance, or other 
quantitative or qualitative characteristic of the resource as compared to the condition the 
resource was in before it was disturbed by unpermitted development. (emphasis added) 

 
The southern maritime chaparral species, including the threatened big-leaved crownbeard, that 
occur on the subject property – in addition to the views they enhance and the soils they stabilize 
– are afforded protection under Coastal Act Sections 30240, 30351 and 30253(b), and are 
therefore a “resource” as defined in Title 14, California Code of Regulations, Section 13190(a).  
The unpermitted clearing of the subject hillside reduced the quality and abundance of these rare 
plant species, has degraded scenic views and contributed to erosion across the site, thereby 
causing “damage” to the resource, as defined in Title 14, California Code of Regulations, Section 
13190(b).  Without restoration, revegetation and careful monitoring, impacts, including but not 

                                                 
15 Michael Brandman Associates. 2001. Draft Environmental Impact Report for Laguna Beach Driftwood Estates 
(Tentative Tract No. 16035). Appendix D.  
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limited to the following, will persist: temporal loss and loss of fitness due to removal of the 
reproductive elements of the plants (i.e., fruit, seeds, flowers, etc.); establishment of non-native 
and invasive species, which may delay or impede reestablishment of native plants within the 
impacted area; as well as the long-term exposure-related effects to the remaining crownbeard 
resulting from removal of the necessary shade and thermal canopy. The persistence of these 
impacts constitutes “continuing” resource damage, as defined in Title 14, California Code of 
Regulations, Section 13190(c).   
 
For the reasons state above, Respondents’ unpermitted actions are causing continuing resource 
damage. As a result, the third standard has been met for the Commission’s issuance of a 
Restoration Order, pursuant to Coastal Act Section 30811. Therefore, the Commission has the 
authority under Coastal Act Section 30811 to issue a Restoration Order in this matter.   
 
4.   Provisions of Consent Cease and Desist Order No. CCC-10-CD-02 and Consent 

Restoration Order No. CCC-10-RO-02 
 
All of the activities set forth in these Consent Orders are consistent with and, in fact, are 
designed to further Chapter 3 resource protection policies.  Staff recommends that the 
Commission issue these Consent Orders to facilitate the restoration and revegetation activities 
necessary to fully resolve the violation at issue in these proceedings and to mitigate the 
significant impacts to sensitive resources that occurred as a result of the violation.  The Consent 
Orders require not only restoration of the areas naturally recovering from the impacts of the 
unpermitted activities, but also the planting of additional native species to mitigate the temporal 
loss and loss of fitness experienced by the impacted species, as a result of the unpermitted 
development. To further facilitate the restoration and restore the property to the pre violation 
condition, the Consent Orders require Respondents to remove all non-native plant species from 
the restoration area, on a monthly basis during the rainy season, for the duration of the 
restoration effort. The Orders require that all restoration measures be detailed in a restoration 
plan, which must be submitted to and approved by the Executive Director before commencement 
of the restoration activities set forth in these Orders. This plan will include a restoration map, a 
description of all restoration methods and performance standards, the elements of necessary 
contingency plans, and a detailed monitoring and maintenance component. The Restoration Plan 
is a proactive measure that will ensure protection of natural resources and conformity of all 
restoration and mitigation activities with the policies of Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act. 
 
    

E.    California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)   
   
The Commission finds that the issuance of Consent Cease and Desist Order No. CCC-10-CD-02 
and Consent Restoration Order CCC-10-RO-02 to compel compliance with the Coastal Act, to 
restore resources impacted by unpermitted development activities, and to mitigate the impacts 
that resulted form the unpermitted development are exempt from any applicable requirements of 
the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970 (CEQA) and will not have any significant 
adverse effects on the environment, within the meaning of CEQA.  The Orders are exempt from 
the requirements for the preparation of an Environmental Impact Report, based on Sections 
15060(c)(2), 15060(c)(3), 15061(b)(2), 15037, 15038, and 15321 of the CEQA Guidelines. 
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F. Consent Agreement: Settlement
 
Chapter 9, Article 2 of the Coastal Act provides that violators may be civilly liable for a variety 
of penalties for violations of the Coastal Act, including daily penalties for knowingly and 
intentionally undertaking development in violation of the Coastal Act.  Respondent has clearly 
stated their willingness to completely resolve the violation, including any penalties, 
administratively and amicably, through a settlement process.  To that end, Respondent has 
committed to comply with all terms and conditions of these Consent Orders, and not to contest 
the issuance or implementation of these Consent Orders.  Additionally, in light of the intent of 
the parties to resolve these matters in a timely fashion and through settlement, Respondent has 
also agreed to resolve their monetary liability under the Coastal Act (see Section 12.0 of the 
attached Consent Order – Appendix A). 
 
 

G.    Findings of Fact 
   
1. Stevan and Rona Gromet are the owners of property located at 30662 Marilyn Drive in the 

City of Laguna Beach, Orange County (APN 656-201-14). 
 
2. Driftwood Properties, LLC is the owner of property located at the northern terminus of 

Driftwood Drive in the City of Laguna Beach, in Orange County (APNs 056-240-65 and 
656-191-40).  

 
3. The property owned by Driftwood Properties, LLC is located immediately adjacent to the 

eastern boundary of property owned by Stevan and Rona Gromet and in an area not subject 
to a certified Local Coastal Program.  

 
4. Stevan and Rona Gromet have undertaken development, as defined in Coastal Act Section 

30106, consisting of the removal of major vegetation, including threatened big-leaved 
crownbeard, on property owned by Driftwood Properties, LLC, in an environmentally 
sensitive habitat area. 

 
5. Stevan and Rona Gromet undertook the development described in finding #4 without 

obtaining a coastal development permit, in violation of the Coastal Act. 
 
6. No permit exemption applied to the action at issue. 
 
7. On January 22, 2007, staff received a report that vegetation had been cleared from an area of 

hillside on property owned by Driftwood Properties, LLC, immediately adjacent to property 
owned by Stevan and Rona Gromet.    

 
8. After conducting a preliminary investigation, on March 13, 2007, staff confirmed that a 

violation had occurred on the property owned by Driftwood Properties, LLC, and that Stevan 
and Rona Gromet were responsible for the violation.   
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9. On April 27, 2007, staff mailed to Stevan and Rona Gromet a Notice of Violation letter 

explaining that the unpermitted clearing of vegetation from the adjacent property owner’s 
hillside constituted “development” as that term is defined under Section 30106 of the Coastal 
Act, was conducted without the benefit of any permit, and therefore constituted a violation of 
the Coastal Act. The letter emphasized staff’s preference to resolve the violation amicably 
through a consent order.    

 
10. On February 18, 2010, the Executive Director issued to Stevan and Rona Gromet a Notice of 

Intent to Commence Cease and Desist and Restoration Order Proceedings, pursuant to Title 
14 California Code of Regulations Sections 13181(a) and 13191(a), to address the 
unpermitted removal of major vegetation on the subject property.   

 
11. On March 22, 2010, authorized representatives for Driftwood Properties, LLC notified 

Commission staff via email of their intent to allow Stevan and Rona Gromet, and their 
agents, contractors and representatives, permission to access and perform restoration work 
upon the impacted area of the subject property, pursuant to Consent Orders CCC-CD-10-02 
and CCC-RO-10-02.   

 
12. The southern maritime chaparral and coastal sage scrub plant communities on the subject 

property meet the definition of environmentally sensitive habitat areas, as defined in the 
Coastal Act.  

 
13. The unpermitted development described in finding #4 had a severe negative impact on 

southern maritime chaparral species, including big-leaved crownbeard, a state and federally 
listed threatened species, and therefore is inconsistent with Coastal Act Section 30240.   

 
14. The temporal loss and loss of fitness incurred by the southern maritime chaparral species, 

including big-leaf crownbeard, will continue until restoration and revegetation activities 
resolve the violation.  

 
15. The unpermitted development described in finding #4 impacted scenic views of coastal 

hillsides and therefore is inconsistent with Coastal Act Section 30251. 
 
16. The unpermitted development described in finding #4 contributed to increased erosion and 

therefore is inconsistent with Coastal Act Section 30253(b). 
 
17. The unpermitted development is causing “continuing resource damage” within the meaning 

of Coastal Act Section 30811 and Title 14, California Code of Regulations, Section 13190. 
 
18. Coastal Act Section 30810 authorizes the Commission to issue a cease and desist order. 

Coastal Act Section 30811 authorizes the Commission to issue a restoration order.   
 
19. The work to be performed under this Order, if completed in compliance with the Order and 

the plans required therein, will be consistent with Chapter 3 of the Coastal Act. 
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Appendices and Exhibits  
 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A. Proposed Consent Cease and Desist and Restoration Orders Nos.    
  CCC-CD-10-02 & CCC-RO-10-02. 
 
 
List of Exhibits   
 
 
Exhibit  Description  
 
A. Map showing the location of the subject property. 
 
B. Map depicting the Impacted Area of the subject property. 
 
C. Photograph of Big-Leaved Crownbeard (Verbesina dissita). 
 
D. Photographs of the impacted area, submitted on January 22, 2007 with report of 

violation.  
 
E. Notice of Violation Letter from Commission staff to Stevan and Rona Gromet, 

dated April 27, 2007.  
 
F. Letter from Scott White Consulting to Stevan and Rona Gromet, dated September 

8, 2008.  
 
G. Notice of Intent to Commence Cease and Desist and Restoration Order 

Proceedings Letter, sent by Commission staff to Stevan and Rona Gromet, dated 
February 18, 2010.  

 
H. Letter and proposed restoration plan from Fred Roberts to Commission staff, 

dated March 21, 2010. 
 
I. Memo from Dr. John Dixon (CCC) to Ryan Todoro (CCC) re: Habitat 

Characteristics on the Athens Group LLC property at Hobo Aliso Ridge (formerly 
known as Driftwood Estates), dated April 16, 2007. 












































































































































